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McKELVIE, Didtrict Judge

Thisisasecurities case. Plaintiffs F. Kenneth Shockley, M.D., David Shockley, John M.
Morrash, Sandra M. Morrash, and Patricia Clement are the lead plaintiffs of an uncertified class
congsting of shareholders who purchased shares of Adams Golf, Inc. common stock in, or traceable
to, its July 1998 Initid Public Offering (“1PO"). Each lead plaintiff purchased a least part of hisor her
Adams Golf stock within twenty-five days of the effective date of the of the Registration Statement and
the Prospectus that were filed prior to the IPO. There are two groups of defendants. Oneis
composed of parties related to Adams Golf (the “ Adams Golf defendants’), and the other composed of
the underwriters of the company’ s 1PO (the “ Underwriter defendants’).

The Adams Golf defendants include the following parties. Defendant Adams Galf, Inc. isa
Dedaware corporation with its principa executive offices in Wilmington, Delaware. Adams Golf
designs, manufactures and markets golf clubs. Defendant B. H. Adams, the founder of Adams Galf, is
an officer and director of the company. Defendants Darl P. Hatfidd and Richard H. Murtland are
officers of the company. Defendants Paul R. Brown, Jr., Ronald E. Casati, Finis F. Conner, and
Stephen R. Patchin are directors of the company.

The Underwriter defendants include Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc., Banc of America
Securities LLC, and Ferris Baker Watts, Incorporated, the lead underwriters for the 1PO.

In their consolidated and amended class action complaint, plaintiffs assert clams pursuant to
Sections 11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 (“the’33 Act”), 15 U.S.C. §8 77k, 771(a)(2) and
770, which dlege that, in connection with the 1PO, defendants wrongfully prepared, sgned or caused
Adams Galf to issue a Regidtration Statement and an incorporated Prospectus that were materidly false

and mideading. Specificdly, plantiffs contend that the defendants failed to disclose that Adams Golf’s



profits and revenues were severdy threatened by extensve didtribution of Adams Golf’s products to
unauthorized retallers. That is, the defendants failed to disclose the existence of what the plaintiffs term
a‘“gray market” for Adams Golf products.

Paintiffs further contend that defendants failed to disclose that an industry-wide oversupply of
retall inventory had weskened salesfor at least afull quarter prior to the offering. Plaintiffs argue that
certain portions of the Registration Statement and Prospectus were materialy mideading with regard to
the gray market and oversupply conditions. Flaintiffs alege that asthe market learned of these
conditions, the per share price of Adams Golf stock dropped from a high of $18.875 to $3.75.

Paintiffs seek damages from defendants to compensate for the loss in vaue of their stock.
Defendants have moved to dismiss plaintiffs complaint pursuant to Federd Rules of Civil Procedure
12(b)(6) and 9(b) and the 1995 Private Securities Litigation Reform Act (the “PSLRA”) for failure to
demondrate any et of factsthat would entitle them to relief.

On January 8, 2001, the court heard oral argument on defendants pending motions to dismiss.
Thisisthe court's decison on the motions to dismiss,

l. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The court draws the following facts from plaintiffs consolidated and amended class action
complaint and the documents referenced therein.

In 1987, Barney H. Adams founded Adams Golf. Adamsinitidly started the company asa
generd golfing components supplier and contract manufacturer, but later developed it into a producer
of high-end, custom fit golf clubs. Inthefdl of 1995, Adamsintroduced the “Tight Lies Origind,” the

lead product in anew line of high-end golf clubs. The Tight Lies Origind was an immediate success. In



December 1996, Adams added three fairway woods, the Tight Lies Strong 3, Strong 5, and Strong 7.
Adams added the Tight Lies Strong 9 to the product line in January 1998. Adams Golf enjoyed rapid
sales growth with the Tight Lies clubs. According to the July 9, 1998 Prospectus, the company’s sales
increased from $1.1 million in 1995 to $36.7 millionin 1997. In thefirg quarter of 1998, Adams Golf
recorded net sdes of $24.5 million and held a 27% market share in the single fairway woods category.

On July 10, 1998, Adams Golf executed an IPO. According to the company’s July 13, 1998,
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Rule 424(b)(4) filing, the PO was conducted on afirm
commitment bas's through the underwriter defendants and consisted of Six million shares offered at
$16.00 per share. On July 10, 1998, the day after the dlegedly mideading Registration Statement and
Prospectus became effective, the stock traded publicly on the NASDAQ exchange and closed at
$18.375. At ord argument, counsdl for plaintiffs stated that two of the lead plaintiffs, F. Kenneth
Shockley, M.D. and David Shockley (“the Shockley plaintiffs’), purchased their shares directly from
the Underwriter defendants during the IPO. The remaining lead plaintiffs (“the non-Shockley plaintiffs’)
purchased their shares on the public market soon after the IPO.

The amended complaint charges that the defendants misrepresented and omitted materid facts
in the July 10, 1998, Adams Golf Regigration Statement. Plaintiffs contend that the omissonsrelate to
two materid subjects. Fird, plaintiffs dlege that defendants failed to disclose that Adams Goalf’ s profits
and revenues were atificidly inflated by extensve “gray market” digtribution of Adams Golf’s products
to Costco, an unauthorized discount retailer. Second, plaintiffs dlegationsinfer that an industry-wide
oversupply of inventory a the retail level existed for at least afull quarter prior to the IPO, that the

defendants falled to disclose this alegedly materid information, and that this industry-wide oversupply



has adversdly affected Adams Golfs profits.

A. Facts Underlying The Allegation of Gray Market Sdes Misrepresentation

At some point before the I1PO, personnel at Adams Golf |earned that certain Tight Lies
products were being sold at Costco, an unauthorized discount retailer. According the plaintiffs, these
sdesreaulted in a“gray market” for the Tight Lies golf clubs. The term “gray market” describesa
market condition created by the unauthorized sale of products to discounters willing to resdll the
products at prices substantially lower than those set by authorized retailers. These discounters use the
lower pricesto draw consumers away from the authorized retailers. When the consumers purchase the
products from the discounters, the profit margins for the distributor of the product are reduced. In
addition, according to the complaint, gray markets tend to skew the distributor’ s revenues, causing
higher salesin the earlier periods as products filter to discounters through gray market channels and
lower sdesin later periods as the authorized retailers, losing salesto discounters, order fewer products
from the digtributor.

On June 9, 1998, one month before the effective date of the Registration Statement, Adams
Golf issued a pressrelease explaining that it had filed a Bill of Discovery againgt Costco. The press
release states, “[t]he bill of discovery wasfiled in order to determine whether Costco's claims that they
had properly acquired Adams Tight Liesfairway woods for resde were accurate. . . . Adams Golf
became concerned when it learned that Costco was sdlling their Tight Lies fairway woods because
Codtco is not an authorized distributor.” At that time, Costco held over 5,000 Adams Golf clubsinits
inventory.

According to plaintiffs, these gray market sdes artificidly inflated Adams Golf’ s sdes prior to
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the IPO and damaged the sdes after the PO by reducing the market price for the clubs. Plaintiffs
explain that Costco's gray market sales are only one example of sales by unauthorized discounters and
international gray market discounters. The Regidtration Statement and Prospectus did not specificaly
refer to the gray market. Rather, it stated that “the Company does not sdll its products through price
sengtive generd discount warehouses, department stores or membership clubs.”

On January 7, 1999, Adams Golf disclosed in acompany press release that sales results would
continue to be adversdy affected as aresult of “the gray market distribution of its productsto a
membership warehouse club.” In the company’s 1998 Form 10-K Report, filed with the SEC in
March 1999, the Adams Golf disclosed that:

Despite the Company’ s efforts to limit its distribution to selected retailers, Adams Golf

products have been found in a certain membership warehouse club, which the

Company believes has obtained the products through the use of unauthorized

digtribution channdls. Adams Golf has taken stepsto limit this unauthorized didtribution

through the seridization of dl Adams Golf club heads but does not believe the gray
marketing of its product can be totaly diminated.

B. Facts Underlying The Allegation of Failure to Disclose Oversupply of
Inventory at Retail Leve

According to the plaintiffs, at some point prior to the IPO, personnd a Adams Golf knew that
there was an industry-wide problem of “oversupply of inventory a theretall level.” Pantiffs contend
that the Regidtration Statement and the Prospectus faled to disclose this * debilitating” industry wide
oversupply condition, a condition that existed prior to the time of the IPO. Rather, the Regidration
Statement and the Prospectus represented that:

In 1997, wholesale sdles of golf equipment in the U.S. reached an estimated $2.4

billion. Wholesde sdes of golf clubsincreased a an estimated compound annua
growth rate of approximately 13% over the 5-year period from 1992 to 1997. The



Company believes that a number of trends are likely to further increase the demand for
Adam’sproducts. . . .

In addition, it is dleged that while the Regidtration Statement and the Prospectus disclosed a
number of risks relaing to competition and industry factors, it nowhere disclosed the dlegedly materia
risks flowing from the then-current oversupply of inventory at the retail level ether for Adams Golf itself
or throughout the golf equipment indudtry. Rather, the plaintiffs argue, Adams Golf mided investorsinto
believing that Adams Golf retailers would not suffer from excess inventory by sating in the Registration
Staterment and the Prospectus that “[t]he Company believes its prompt ddlivery of products enablesits
retall accounts to maintain smaler quantities of inventory than may be required with other golf
equipment manufacturers.”

Defendants firgt indicated to the public that retailers were carrying excess inventory on January
7, 1999, when, in connection with disappointing financid results, Adams Golf disclosed in acompany
press rlease that it would offer creditsto itsretallers, at the cost of millions of dollars, in an attempt to
dleviate the problems arisng from those retailers excess inventory.

Theninan April 12, 1999 press release, with reference to results for the quarter that ended on
March 31, 1999, Adams Golf disclosed for the first time that “ Adams Golf believes the oversupply of
inventory at the retail level, a condition that has weakened club sdesindustry wide over the last 12
months, has resulted in substantia reductionsin retailer purchases.” According to the amended
complaint, one can infer from that statement that the undisclosed oversupply condition existed for at
least one quarter before Adams Golf’s |PO on July 10, 1998.

1. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND




On April 25, 2000, the court gppointed plaintiffs as lead plaintiffs of the as yet uncertified class.
The lead plaintiffs filed their consolidated and amended class action complaint on May 17, 2000.

On Jduly 6, 2000, the Adams Golf defendants moved to dismiss plaintiffs consolidated and
amended complaint on four grounds. On July 11, 2000, the Underwriter defendants moved to dismiss
the complaint on essentidly the same grounds. Firg, the defendants contend that only the particular
plaintiffs who purchased shares of Adams Goalf in the IPO have standing to assert claims under sections
11(a) and 12(a)(2) of the 33 Act and, therefore, the clams of al plaintiffs that have not purchased
shares directly from the Underwriter defendants should be dismissed pursuant to Federa Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(c).

Second, the defendants contend that the plaintiffs dso failed to plead a section 11 or section
12(a)(2) violation with the particularity required by the PSLRA.

Third, the defendants contend that the plaintiffs failed to plead their clams under sections 11
and 12(a)(2) of the’33 Act with the particularity required by Federa Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 9(b)
for dams sounding in fraud. Because the plaintiffs, in their anended complaint, specificadly sate that
clams do not alege fraud, this ground for dismissa will require the court to determine if the amended
complant nonetheless sounds in fraud.

Lagt, the defendants contend that the plaintiffs alegations that the Regidtration Statement
contained material misrepresentations or omissons fail to state aclam under sections 11 or 12(a)(2) of
the’33 Act and, as such, the amended complaint should be dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the
Federd Rules of Civil Procedure. In connection with its argument that the complaint fallsto date a

clam, the Adams Golf defendants further argue that the plaintiffs have failed to dlege facts



demondtrating that defendants qudify as* datutory sdlers” asrequired for plaintiff’ s section 12(a)(2)
clam and that the plaintiffs have falled to dlege facts demondrating that defendants qudify as “control
persons,” as required for plaintiff’s section 15 clam.
[1. DISCUSSION

The court’ s discussion is parsed into four main sections below. Firg, the court sets forth the
proper legd standard for amotion to dismiss. After summarizing the legdl underpinnings of plaintiffs
three clams, the court next addresses the threshold issue of standing. The court then consdersthe
procedura issue of whether plaintiffs have pleaded their dlegations with sufficient particularity. Ladt,
the court addresses the substantive issue of whether the complaint states a clam under the’ 33 Act.

A. Standard of Decision

Under Rule 12(b)(6), a count of acomplaint may be dismissed for falure to state aclam upon
which relief may be granted only if, when accepting dl of the plaintiffs factud alegations as true and
drawing dl reasonable inferences from these factsin favor of the plaintiffs, no relief would be granted

under any set of factsthat could be proved. Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957); Morsev.

Lower Merion Sch. Did., 132 F.3d 902, 906 (3d Cir. 1997).

B. Summary of Plantiffs Clams

Paintiffs consolidated and amended complaint asserts violations of 88 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of
the’33 Act. Passed in the aftermath of the stock market crash of 1929, the 33 Act creates federa
duties, most of which relate to registration and disclosure obligations, in connection with public

offerings. See Gustafson v. Alloyd Co., 513 U.S. 561, 570 (1995); Ernst & Erngt v. Hochfelder, 425

U.S. 185, 195 (1976) (“The Securities Act of 1933 .. . . was desgned to provide investors with full



disclosure of materid information concerning public offerings of securitiesin commerce, to protect
investors againg fraud and, through the impogition of specified civil ligbilities, to promote ethical

gandards of honesty and fair deding.”); Bdlay v. Legg Mason Wood Walker, Inc., 925 F.2d 682, 690

(3d Cir. 1991) (citing Hochfelder, 425 U.S. at 195).

1. Section 11 of the’33 Act

Section 11 of the’ 33 Act creates a private cause of action for “any person acquiring [al
security” for which aregigration statement contained an untrue statement of materia fact or an omisson
of amaterid fact that is required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not
mideading. 15 U.S.C. 8 77k(a). A 811 clam can be brought against every person who signed the
registration statement, the issuer of the securities, the issuer’ s directors or partners, the underwriters of
the offering, and accountants named as having prepared or sSigned the registration Satement. 1d.

According to the statutory language, a 8 11 plaintiff does not need to establish a defendant’ s scienter,

or even negligence. Herman & Macl ean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 382 (1982).

2. Section 12(a)(2) of the'33 Act

Section 12(8)(2) of the’ 33 Act creates a private cause of action against persons who offer or
sl a security “by means of a prospectus or oral communication” that includes an untrue statement of
materid fact or omitsto state a materia fact necessary in order to make the statements not mideading.
15U.SC. 8 771(8)(2). Lidhility under this section extends to those who transfer title to the security and
to those who successfully solicit the purchase based on direct and active solicitation. 1d.; Inre

Craftmatic Sec. Litig., 890 F.2d 628, 636 (3d Cir. 1989) (citing Pinter v. Dahl, 486 U.S. 622 (1988),

and adopting itsinterpretation of the scope of “sdler” to include one who solicitsthe sdeasused in



section 12(1) for the purposes of 12(a)(2)); In re Westinghouse Sec. Litig., 90 F.3d 696, 717 n.19 (3d
Cir. 1996) (discussing requirement that solicitation be active and direct). Like 8§ 11, thereisno
requirement under 8 12 that a plaintiff show defendant’ s scienter or negligence. Gustafson, 513 U.S. at
582; Westinghouse, 90 F.3d at 717 n.20.

3. Section 15 of the'33 Act

Section 15 of the’ 33 Act extends liability under 88 11 and 12 to cover “control” persons.
Specifically, § 15 provides that any person who, “by or through stock ownership, agency, or otherwise,
or who, pursuant to or in connection with an agreement or understanding with one or more other
persons by or through stock ownership, agency,

or otherwise,” controls any person subject to ligbility under 88 11 or 12 may aso be jointly and
severdly liable to the same extent as the controlled person, unless the controlling person “had no
knowledge of or reasonable ground to believe in the existence of the facts by reason of which the
ligbility of the controlled personisaleged to exist.” 15 U.S.C. § 770. Section 15 liahility, therefore, is
predicated on aprimary violation of 8 11 or 8 12 by a controlled person. Seeid.

C. Do the Non-Shockley Plaintiffs Have Standing to Sue Under Sections 11 or
12(a)(2) of the’'33 Act?

Faintiffs have sated that the Shockley plaintiffs are the only plaintiffs who purchased their
Adams Golf sharesin the IPO, at the IPO price, directly from the underwriter defendants. Defendants
contend that the remainder of the lead plaintiffs, who did not purchase sharesin the PO but instead
purchased their shares in the secondary market, lack standing to bring claims under 88 11 and

12(3)(2).
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Because the language of the two sections is digtinct and thus has been analyzed differently by
the mgority of courts that have addressed the issue of standing, the court will address the standing
argument with respect to each of the sections separatdly. See 15 U.S.C. § 771(a) (statutory language
of 8 12(a)(2) requires privity by limiting sdler’ sliability “to the person purchasing such security from
him”) (emphasis added); 15 U.S.C. 8§ 77k (broader statutory language of § 11 contains no privity
requirement and more broadly provides that “any per son acquiring such security” may bring suit);

See, eq.. Hertzberg v. Dignity Partners, Inc., 191 F.3d 1076, 1081 (9" Cir. 1999) (“while Section 11

and Section 12 are indeed pardld satutes, their wording is sgnificantly different asto who can bring a
sit”); Joseph v. Wiles, 223 F.3d 1155, 1161 (10" Cir. 2000) (anayzing Sections 11 and 12
Sseparately).

1. Do the non-Shockley plaintiffs have sanding under section 12(a)(2) of
the'33 Act?

Defendants argue that according to both the Supreme Court in Gustafson v. Alloyd Co., 513

U.S. 561 (1995), and the Third Circuit in Ballay v. Legg Mason Wood Walker, Inc., 925 F.2d 682
(3d Cir.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 820 (1991), clams under § 12(8)(2) are limited to initid distributions
of securities (in this case, the IPO) and, therefore, § 12(8)(2) clams that are brought by plaintiffs who
purchased securities on the secondary market must be dismissed. Plaintiffs seek to distinguish

Gudtafson and Ballay from the instant case and argue that these cases do not divest them of § 12(3)(2)

standing. As st forth more fully below, the court finds that the holdings of Gustafson and Bdlay

mandate that the non-Shockley plaintiffs lack standing to bring claims under § 12(3)(2).

In Balay, investors who bought market securities from Legg Mason sued the brokerage firm for
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aleged ord misrepresentations concerning the book vaue caculation of securitiesthat they sold. The
digtrict court entered judgment on ajury verdict, awvarding investors damages on their clam under 8
12(2) of the’33 Act.! On apped, the Third Circuit, after reviewing the language and legidative history
of §12(2), held that 8§ 12(2) does not afford a remedy to abuyer of securitiesin the secondary
market, but was designed to provide aremedy only to buyers of securities at the initid distribution.
Bdlay, 925 F.2d at 684. The Bdlay court determined that 8 12(2)’s language requiring that the
defendant sold a security through a* progpectus or ord communication,” refers only to the tranamittal of
information concerning the sdle of the security in an initid digribution. 1d. at 688. To further bolster its
datutory interpretation, the Third Circuit went on to note that the congressiond object of the’ 33 Act
was to regulate initid issuances, while the Exchange Act of 1934 (“the’ 34 Act”) was intended to
regulate the secondary trading of securities. 1d. at 690.

In Gustafson, the Supreme Court considered the standing issue under 8 12(2). The plaintiffs,
sole shareholders of a privately held corporation, purchased shares of stock from the sdllers, pursuant
to aprivate sde contract. They brought suit under 8 12(2), seeking rescission of the sale agreement on
the ground that the written sale agreement was a“progpectus’ within the meaning of § 12(2) and
contained materid misstatements. Relying on the Third Circuit’s decison in Balay, the district court

granted the defendants summary judgment motion, holding that “8 12(2) claims can only arise out of

! Thereis no substantive difference between a8 12(2) dlam and a§ 12(a)(2) claim;
both refer to the same dtatute that was renumbered in 1995 when Congress added another subsection
to 8 12. See Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Pub. L. No. 104-67, § 105, 109 Stat.
737, 757 (codified at 15 U.S.C. § 771 ). Therefore, § 12(2) claims now are numbered as § 12(3)(2)
dams

12



initid stock offerings’ and not from a private sde agreement. The Court of Apped's vacated the
judgment and remanded the case in light of its holding that the inclusion of the term “communication” in
the’ 33 Act’s definition of prospectus meant that prospectus includes dl written communications
offering a security for sdle. The Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appedls, and adopted the Balay
court’ sinterpretation of the word prospectus as “aterm of art referring to a document that describes a
public offering of securities by an issuer or controlling shareholder.” Gustafson, 513 U.S. at 584.

Pantiffs urge this court to adopt a narrow reading of the holding of Gustafson and argue that
the language defendants rely on from the opinionisdicta. Specificdly, plaintiffs contend that because of
its factud context, Gustafson only stands for the propostion that the’ 33 Act covers offerings of public
securities and not private placements. They argue that the holding of Gustafson does not distinguish
between initid public offerings and later sdles of publicly registered securities because the plaintiffsin
Gustafson were participants in aprivate offering. Therefore, according to the plaintiffs, dl of the
reasoning and analyssin Gustafson that drove the Court to conclude that 8 12(2) applies only to
initial public offerings and not to private or secondary sales isdictathat is not controlling upon this
court.

While the argument that Gustafson' s interpretation of 8 12(a)(2) does not bar § 12(a)(2) claims

brought by aftermarket purchasers has been adopted by afew courts, see, e.9. Feiner v. SS& C

Technologies, Inc., 47 F. Supp. 2d 250, 252 (D. Conn. 1999), it has not been adopted by the majority

of courts. See Warden v. Crown Amer. Redty Trust, No. Civ. A. 96-25J, 1998 WL 725946, *2

(W.D. Pa. Oct. 15, 1998); In re Dmarva Sec. Litig., 794 F. Supp. 1293 (D. Ddl. 1992) (pre-

Gudtafson); Giarraputo v. Unumprovident Corp., No. Civ. 99-301-PC, 2000 WL 1701294, *9 (D.
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Me. Nov. 8, 2000).

Even if the court were to adopt the plaintiffs argument that Gustafson does not preclude the
non-Shockley plaintiffs' § 12(a)(2) clams, Bdlay remains the contralling law in the Third Circuit and
compels the court to find that the non-Shockley plaintiffs do not have standing under 8 12(a)(2). Asthe
defendants point out, the precise issue framed by the Balay Court was “whether section 12(2) of the
Securities Act of 1933 affords aremedy to a buyer of securitiesin the secondary market.” Bdlay, 925
F.2d at 684. The Bdlay Court hdd that “ Section 12(2) applies only to initid offerings and not to
aftermarket trading.” 1d. at 693. This holding was not disturbed by the Supreme Court’s opinion in
Gustafson; rather the Gustafson Court cited Balay with approvd. Gustafson, 513 U.S. at 566.

This court, therefore, finds that the non-Shockley plaintiffs do not have standing to bring their §
12(a)(2) dams and will dismiss that dam asto those plaintiffs.

2. Do the non-Shockley plaintiffs have sanding under section 11 of the ‘33
Act?

Defendants next contend that the non-Shockley plaintiffs lack standing under § 11, arguing, as
they did with respect to 8§ 12(a)(2), that 8 11 relief is only available to those individuas who purchase
their shares directly through the IPO subject to the registration statement at issue. They principally base

their contentions on dictain Gustafson and Balay stating that, because the two sections share legidétive

higtory that indicates that the entire’ 33 Act was designed by Congressto regulate initid offerings only,
the issue of standing with respect to 8 11 claims should be interpreted in a manner thet is consstent with
those courts' interpretation of standing under 8§ 12(8)(2); namely, that secondary market purchasers do

not have standing to bring 8§ 11 clams either. See Gustafson, 513 U.S. at 572 (“It is more reasonable

14



to interpret the liability provison of the 1933 Act as desgned for the primary purpose of providing
remedies for the violations of obligationsit had created. Indeed, 88 11 and 12(1)-the statutory
neighbors of § 12(2)— afford remedies for violations of those obligations’ ); Balay, 925 F.2d at 691
(“All of these sections [88 11, 12, and 13] ded with initia digtributions .. . . Congress' placement of
section 12(2) squardly among the 1933 Act provisions concerned solely with initid distributions of
securities indicates that it designed section 12(2) to protect buyers of initid offers againg fraud and
misrepresentation.”).

Although Bdlay, and arguably Gustafson, both decisions that considered only 8§ 12(2), control
this court’ s interpretation of standing under 8 12(a)(2), neither holding directly controls the court’s
interpretation of the standing requirements of § 11.

Each of the Circuit Courts that had directly addressed the scope of § 11 prior to Gustafson,
had uniformly dlowed for recovery under 8 11 by purchasersin the secondary market. See Versyss

Inc. v. Coopers & Lybrand, 982 F.2d 653, 657 (1% Cir. 1992) (section 11 imposes liability “for the

benefit even of purchasers after the origind offering’); Barnes v. Osofsky, 373 F.2d 269 (2d Cir.

1967); Columbia Gen. Inv. Corp. v. SEC, 265 F.2d 559, 562 (5™ Cir. 1959). However, since

Gustafson, the issue of whether a plaintiff who purchases on the aftermarket has standing to pursuea 8
11 claim has been the subject much debate in the didtrict courts. Indeed, both parties have pointed to

digtrict court opinions that support their position on theissue. Compare Gannon v. Continental Ins,

Co., 920 F. Supp. 566, 575 (D.N.J. 1996) (holding aftermarket purchasers lacked standing under
section 11), Gould v. Harris, 929 F. Supp. 353, 358-59 (C.D. Cal. 1996) (same) and McKowan

Lowe & Co., Ltd. v. Jasmine Ltd., 127 F. Supp. 2d 516, 542 (D.N.J 2000) (same) with Adair v.
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Brigtol Tech. Sys., Inc.,, 179 F.R.D. 126, 130-33 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (holding aftermarket purchasers

had standing under section 11) and In re Livent, Inc. Noteholders Sec. Litig., 151 F. Supp. 2d. 371,

435-36 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (same) and Schwartz v. Celestid Seasonings, Inc., 178 F.R.D. 545, 555-57

(D. Colo. 1998) (same).

Since Gustafson, each Circuit Court that has addressed the issue of whether aftermarket
purchasers may proceed under 8 11 has determined that they may, S0 long as the securities were
traceable to an offering that was covered by the dlegedly fdse registration satement. See Joseph v.
Wiles, 223 F.3d 1155, 1158-61 (10" Cir. 2000) (holding that aftermarket purchaser of securities has
standing to pursue 8 11 claim so long as he can prove that the securities he bought were tracegble to

those sold in an offering covered by the fase registration statement); Hertzberg v. Dignity Partners, Inc.,

191 F.3d 1076, 1079-82 (9" Cir. 1999) (same). Recent scholarly criticism supports this
interpretation of the scope of 8 11. See Brian Murray, Aftermarket Purchaser Standing Under 11 of
the Securities Act of 1933, 73 &. John's L. Rev. 633, 650 (“Following an initid flurry of decison after
Gugtafson which limited standing under section 11 to purchasers on an 1PO, the more recent and more
well-reasoned decisons dlow aftermarket purchasers standing to sue under section 11”); see dso
Vincent R. Cappucci, Misreading Gustafson Could Eliminate Liability Under Section 11, 218 N.Y.JL.
1 (Sept. 22, 1997).

This court finds the reasoning that supports decisions such as Joseph, Hertzberg, and Adair to

be persuasve. Therefore, this court will adopt the view that aftermarket purchasers may proceed
under 8 11 so long asthey can trace the purchase of their sharesto a public offering that is covered by

the offending regigtration statemen.
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Thisreading of the scope of § 11 is supported by the text of 8§ 11 itsdlf. Section 11(a) provides
that where aregistration statement containing material misstatements or omissions accompanies an SEC
securitiesfiling, “any person acquiring such security” may bring an action for losses caused by the
defect. 15 U.S.C. 8 77k(d). Unlike 8§ 12(a)(2), thereis no privity requirement and there is no language
limiting the dams to those investors who purchese their sharesin an initid public offering. Rather, the
naturd reading of “any person acquiring such security” isthat the plaintiff must have purchased, a some
point, a security issued under the registration statement at issue.

As noted by the Ninth Circuit in Hertzberg and the Tenth Circuit in Joseph, thisreading isaso
supported by other portionsof 8 11. For example, 8§ 11(a), as amended in 1934, requiresthat a
person who acquires the security “ after the issuer has made generdly available to its security holders an
earnings satement covering a period of at least twelve months beginning after the effective date of the
registration statement,” must prove reliance on the registration statement in order to recover. 15
U.SC. 877k(3). Inlight of thisrequirement, to interpret 8§ 11 as inapplicable to registered securities
that were purchased on the secondary market, would make this section gpplicable only to continuous
offerings that extend beyond twelve months, offerings which were and are quite rare. Joseph, 223 F.3d
a 1159. Moreover, § 11(e), the section’s damages provision, aso seemsto contemplate that
aftermarket purchases of registered securities are covered, when it sets the basdline for damages
measurements at “the amount paid for the security (not exceeding the price a which the security was
offered to the public).” 15U.S.C. 8 77k(e). Smilarly, 8 11(g) caps the maximum recoverable
damages a “the price a which the security was offered to the public.” 1d. a 77k(g). Asnoted by the

Ninth Circuit, such provisons “would be unnecessary if only a person who bought in the actud offering
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could recover, Since, by definition, such a person would have paid ‘the price at which the security was
offered to the public.”” Hertzberg, 191 F.3d at 1080.

The court’ sfinding that 8 11 claims can be brought by aftermarket purchasers who can
demondtrate that they purchased their securities pursuant to the registration statement does not frustrate
the fundamentd distinction between the scope of the ' 33 Act, which was meant to regulate the initid
digtribution of securities, and the’ 34 Act, which regulates trading in the open market. See, e.q..

Gustafson, 513 U.S. at 1068; Blue Chip Stampsv. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 752 (1975);

United Statesv. Naftalin, 441 U.S. 768, 777-778 (1979). Where plaintiffs can trace their sharesto the

initid offering, the aleged misrepresentation that violates the’ 33 Act took place in the public offering,
even though the shares were purchased on the open market. See Joseph, 223 F.3d at 1159 (citing

Columbia Gen. Inv. Corp., 265 F.2d at 562).

Defendants, nonethdless, argue that language from Shapiro v. UJB Fin. Corp., 964 F.2d 272,

286 (3d Cir. 1992), indicates that the Third Circuit supports their view that standing under § 11
requires that the plaintiffs purchased their sharesin theinitiad distribution. Specificaly, the quoted
languagein Shapiro states that “[i]f plaintiff’s shares were purchased in the secondary market, they
would not be linked to aregistration statement filed during the class period, and the 8 11 claim would
fal.” Shapiro, 964 F.2d at 286. The court finds that the defendants’ reliance on this out-of-context
statement from Shapiro is misplaced; Shapiro does not support the proposition that the Third Circuit
does not recognize aftermarket purchaser’s standing under 8 11. Rather, Shapiro is an endorsement of
the “tracing” theory, and has been so recognized by other courts. See Joseph, 223 F.3d at 1160 (citing

Shapiro when discussing how requiring that aftermarket purchaser to demondgtrate that he/she can trace
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their purchase back to the offending registration statement satifies the standing requirements of § 11).

Firg, it should be noted that although defendants cite Shapiro for the proposition that a8 11
clam requires the plaintiffs to purchase their sharesin theinitid public offering, the court in Shapiro did
not dismissthe plaintiffs 8 11 claim on that ground. Rather, the Shapiro court hdd that if the plaintiffs
could prove that they could trace their shares to afadse of mideading registration statement, they could
recover, even when they did not purchase their sharesin theinitid offering.

In order to understand the Shapiro court’ s language, one must 1ook to the context of the court’s
datement. The section of Shapiro that precedes and follows the above quoted languageis fully set
forth below:

Under § 11 of the Securities Act, any person acquiring a security issued pursuant to a

fase or mideading regidration satement may recover damages. Plaintiffs alege that

they purchased UJB stock “pursuant to” a DRISP regidtration statement. The district

court dismissed this claim, holding that athough the plaintiffs need not prove their shares

are traceable to afdse or mideading statement at this early stage of the litigation, they

mugt dlegeit. We agree that traceability must be aleged, but our review of plaintiffs

complaint leads us to conclude that this has been done.. . . . At some point, plaintiffs

may be able to prove that their DRISP shares came from treasury stock. [Therefore],

the 8 11 claim cannot be dismissed a thistime.

Id. at 286.

The confusion about the meaning of Shapiro is dueto that case's peculiar factud context. In
Shapiro, the plaintiffs brought clams under 88 11and 12(2) dleging that UJB’ s Dividend Reinvestment
and Stock Purchase Plan (the “DRISP’) and the accompanying prospectus and registration statement
were fase and mideading. Under the DRISP, shareholders reinvested their UJB dividends by

purchasing additional UJB shares. “Some of these new shares were authorized but previoudy unissued

treasury stock, but others were purchased by UJB in the secondary market.” Shapiro, 964 F.2d at
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285-86. The court in Shapiro held that if the DRISP shares could be traced to the treasury stock, they
would properly alegetheir 8 11 clam. However, in the statement quoted by the defendants, the court
noted that if the plaintiffs were only able to trace their shares to the secondary market shares, which in
this case were shares already issued on the date of the misleading registration
statement, they could not satisfy the tracing requirement and therefore could not bring their 8 11
dam.

Accordingly, the court will not dismiss the non-Shockley plaintiffs 8§ 11 claims based on lack of
danding.

D. Have Paintiffs Sated Their Claims With Sufficient Particularity Under Federa
Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b) and the PSLRA?

Defendants aso assert that the plaintiffs have failed to plead their dlegations with the
particularity required by Federd Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b) and the PSLRA. The court will address
each of these contentions in turn.

1. Have plaintiffs sated their claims with sufficient particularity under Rue
9(b)?

Rule 9(b), in relevant part, provides that “[i]n al averments of fraud or mistake, the
circumstances congtituting fraud or mistake shal be stated with particularity.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).
Defendants argue that the plaintiffs dlegations of knowing misstatements trigger the specificity
requirements of Rule 9(b). Plantiffs, while acknowledging that Rule 9(b) appliesto damsthat sound in
fraud, argue that their complaint need not and does not sound in fraud; they assert rather that it merely
dleges that the Regidration Statement and Prospectus negligently or innocently omitted and misstated

materia factsin violation of 88 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the’33 Act.
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Paintiffs are correct that alegations under 88 11 and 12(a)(2) need not satisfy any statutory
scienter requirement; only amaterid misstatement or omission need be shown. See Huddleston, 459

U.S. at 382; Shapiro, 964 F.2d at 288; see also Shaw v. Digitd Equip. Corp., 82 F.3d 1194, 1223

(1% Cir. 1996) (“Fraud is not an element of aclam under either Section 11 or 12(a)(2), and a plaintiff
assarting such cdlams may avoid dtogether any dlegations of scienter or reliance.”). Thus, the
heightened pleading requirements of Rule 9(b) do not generdly apply to 8§ 11 and 12(a)(2) clams.
However, the plain language of Rule 9(b), which coversdl “averments’ of fraud, extendsto cover
complaints where the plaintiffs alegations nonetheless dlege that the defendants' actions were
fraudulent, intentiond, or knowing. Shapiro, 964 F.2d at 287-88. Therefore, when aplaintiff’s§ 11
and 12(3)(2) cdlams are grounded in fraud, the pleading requirements of Rule 9(b) apply. The proper
inquiry, therefore, focuses on the dlegations in the complaint.

Reviewing the complaint, the court finds thet the plaintiffs merely alege that the 1PO offering
materidsincuded materidly fase and mideading statements and omitted to disclose materid facts
relaing to the gray market distribution of Adams Golf products and the oversupply of golf club
inventory at theretall level. Nowhere in the complaint do plaintiffs dlegations focus on or even refer to
the defendants state of mind.

This case differsfactudly from Shapiro. There, the plaintiffs complaint, which adleged
violations of both the’ 33 Act and under the anti-fraud Statute, section 10(b) of the’ 34 Act, conssted
solely of references to intentional and reckless conduct and was therefore * devoid of dlegations that
defendants acted negligently in violating Sections 11 and 12(2).” 1d. at 288. The same set of facts that

were aleged to support the plaintiffs fraud claims were used to support plaintiffs clams under 88 11
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and 12(a)(2). Inthiscase, plantiffs did not include any fraud clams and instead only plead violations of
the 33 Act, aleging only what is required under 88 11 and 12(a)(2) of the '33 Act - that statements or
omissonsin the Adams Golf Regidration Statement were materialy false or mideading. Furthermore,
nothing in the complaint suggests thet it was “artfully pleaded” to avoid the heightened pleading
requirements. Because plaintiffs clams do not “sound in fraud” the court finds that the heightened
pleading standard of Rule 9(b) is not goplicable to the plaintiffs clamsin this case.

2. Have plantiffs sated their dams with sufficent particularity under The
PSLRA?

The Underwriter defendants contend that plaintiffs have failed to satisfy the heightened pleading
gtandard of the PSLRA. These defendants point out that § 21(D)(b)(1) of the PSLRA requiresthat, in
connection with any private action arisng under the statute in which plaintiffs dlege to have been mided
by defendants untrue statements or omissions of materia fact, “the complaint shall specify each
statement aleged to have been mideading [and] . . . the reason or reasons why the satement is
mideading. ...” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1).

Because 88 11, 12(8)(2), and 15 do not require proof that the defendants acted with a
paticular sate of mind, the defendants rely only on § 21(D)(b)(1) and not § 21(D)(b)(2)? of the
PSLRA in arguing that plaintiffs fal to plead their alegations with the requisite particularity. The

plaintiffs respond that the heightened pleading requirements for fraud under the PSLRA do not gpply in

2Section 21(D)(b)(2) of the PSLRA mandates that in actions arising under the Satute
“in which the plaintiff may recover money damages only on proof that the defendant acted with a
particular sate of mind, the complaint shdl . . . state with particularity the facts giving rise to a strong
inference that the defendant acted with the required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2).
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this case because the PSLRA gpplies only to clams under the’ 34 Act and not to claims under to the
"33 Act. Asexplained below, the plaintiffs are correct that § 21(D)(b)(2) of the PSLRA applies only
to’34 Act fraud clams and does not gpply to the clamsraised in their complaint, which are wholly
premised on the non-fraud provisions of the’ 33 Act.

The PSLRA, passed by Congressin 1995, contains provisions that amend the’ 33 Act (Section
101(a), codified at 15 U.S.C. § 77a et seq.) and the’ 34 Act (Section 101(b), codified at 15 U.S.C. §
78a et s2q.). While many of the provisions are identicad, the heightened pleading requirement, codified
a 15 U.S.C. 8§ 78u-4(b)(2), isexpredy limited to the 34 Act and is not gpplicable to claims brought
under the’33 Act. The preamble of § 21(D)(b)(1) of the PSLRA begins, “In any private action arisng
under thistitle’ and goes on to Sate that any materid statements or omissions must be pleaded with
particularity. 15 U.S.C. 8 78u-4(b)(1). Thereferenceto “thistitle’ isto Title| of the Exchange Act of
1934 and not to the Securities Act of 1933.

Despite this clear statutory language, the Underwriter defendants rely on dictafrom an
unreported Didtrict of Massachusetts case. In that case, the court noted that provisons of the PSLRA

gpplied to 8 11 clams. See Cooperman v. Individud, Inc., No. Civ. A. 96-12272, 1998 WL 953726,

*7 (D. Mass. May 27, 1998). In the following paragraph, without explaining why the court determined
that the PSLRA applied to the case at hand, the court stated that despite the fact that “[d]efendantsin
this case faled to move for dismissa under either Rule 9(b) or 8 78u-4(b) . . . | note that the Complaint
does satisfy 8§ 78u-4(b). . ..” 1d. Given that the text of the PSLRA is clear that it does not gpply to 88
11 or 12(8)(2), the court declinesto rely on the cited language from Cooperman here to find that the

provisons of the PSLRA gpply to clams under the’33 Act.
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Moreover, even if the heightened pleading requirement did gpply, the complaint is sufficiently
detailed to meet those requirements. The complaint specificdly highlights the dlegedly fdse and
mideading statements contained in the Regigration Statement and Progpectus in connection with the
gray market sales and inventory oversupply, explains why plantiffs believe these gatements were
mideading, and alleges afactud bassfor why plaintiffs contend thet the defendants could have known
that the satements were false and mideading at the time of the issuance of the Regidration Statement

and Prospectus.

E. Have Plaintiffs Stated a Claim Under Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the ‘33 Act?

The defendants have three remaining arguments in support of their motionsto dismiss. Firg, the
Adams Golf defendants claim that they do not qudify as*“ statutory sdlers’ asrequired by § 12(a)(2) of
the’33 Act. In connection with this defense, they argue that the complaint did not alege that the
Adams Golf defendants were ether in privity with the plaintiffs or had immediately, directly, and actively

solicited their purchases. See Pinter v. Dahl, 486 U.S. 622, 623 (1988); In re Craftmatic Sec. Litig.,

890 F.2d 628, 636 (3d Cir. 1989). Second, the Adams Golf defendants claim that the plaintiffs failed
to plead specific facts of “control” asrequired by 8§ 15 of the’ 33 Act, arguing that plaintiffs alegations
of the defendant’ s status as director or senior officer of Adams Golf are insufficient to establish that the

defendant isa*” control person.” See Paracor Fin., Inc. v. Genera Elec. Capita Corp., 96 F.3d 1151,

1163 (9" Cir. 1996) (stating that mere status as an officer or director does not establish “control”).
Lagt, both sets of defendants argue thet plaintiffs have failed to state a substantive claim under 88 11,

12(8)(2), and 15 of the’ 33 Act because none of the statements in the Registration Statement and
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Progpectus were untrue or mideading when they were made. Because thislast argument could be
dispogtive of dl dams, the court will addressiit fird.

As noted above, the plaintiffs clamsrest on two generd theories. Firg, the plaintiffs dlege that
the defendants falled to disclose the existence of agray market in Adams Golf Tight Lies Clubs,
whereby unauthorized discount retailers like Costco acquired the Tight Lies Clubs and sold them at
discounted prices. Plaintiffs clam that this gray market ultimately caused price margins for Adams Golf
to erode. While the Regidtration Statement and Prospectus did not specificaly refer to the gray market
risk, it sated that “the Company does not sell its products through price sengitive generd discount
warehouses, department stores, or membership clubs” Second, the plaintiffs allege that the defendants
faled to disclose the fact that there was an industry-wide oversupply of inventory at theretall leve a
the time of the IPO. Adams Golf confirmed in an April 12, 1999 press release that this oversupply
condition weakened club sdesindustry wide. The Regigtration Statement and Prospectus did not
disclose this condition; it stated that “[t]he Company believesits prompt delivery of products engblesits
retail accounts to maintain smaler quantities of inventory than may be required with other golf
equipment manufacturers.” Paintiffs assart that the falure to disclose this “excess retall inventory” was
amaterid misrepresentation of Adams Golf’ s present business condition and future business prospects
that adversdly affected the company’ s operating results.

1. Do the plaintiffsS gray market alegetions state a clam under the ' 33
Act?

Faintiffs dlege that at the time of the IPO, the unauthorized, “gray market” digtribution of

Adams Golf’s products to retail discounters posed “a materia risk to the company’ s future results’ that
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should have been disclosed in the Registration Statement. Plaintiffs lso claim that the existence of gray

market sales rendered the following statements from the Registration Statement false or mideading:

“the Company limitsits didribution to retallers that market premium qudity golf
equipment and provide ahigh leve of customer service and technica expertises”

. “The Company currently sdllsits products to on-and-off course golf shops and sdected
sporting goods retailers;”

. “the Company does not sdll its products through price sengitive generd discount
warehouses, department stores or membership clubs;,”

. “The Company believes its sdlective retail didribution helpsits retalersto maintain
profitable margins”

In order to State aclam under the’ 33 Act, the plaintiffs must alege that the registration statement
contains afase or mideading Satement or omits amaterid fact.

Defendants contend that the plaintiffs have dleged nothing more than that an unauthorized
discount retailer obtained some Adams Golf clubs prior to the IPO and argue that the plaintiffs gray
market theory failsfor two reasons. First, defendants clam, the chalenged satementsin the
Regigtration Statement and Prospectus were true, were not mideading, and omitted nothing that was
required to be stated when the Registration Statement became effective on July 9, 1998. Second,
defendants assert that nothing aleged in the complaint raises an inference that Adams Golf should have
or could have predicted that a gray market in its products posed any materid threat to Adams Golf’s
business when the Regigration Statement became effective. Defendants claim that the plaintiffs claims
are classc “fraud by hindsght” and thet plaintiffs have smply worked back from satements made
months after the |PO was completed to dlege that the state of affairs asthey were perceived at that

time must have been the sate of affars on the effective date of the Regidration Statement.
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Adams Golf gated in its Regidration Statement that it limitsits distribution to retallers that
market premium qudity golf equipment and that the Company does not sl its products through price
sendtive generd discount warehouses. The court finds nothing in plaintiffs alegations indicating thet
each of the these representations made in the Regigtration Statement were not true. Nowhere doesthe
complaint alege that Adams Golf sold its products to Costco or authorized its retailers to do o; rather,
the plaintiffs complaint alleges that authorized deders and not Adams Golf, were “responsible for
unauthorized distribution to discount retallers” F. Compl §128. It is noteworthy that the complaint
itself defines “gray market digtribution” as “the unauthorized distribution of the Company’s products
to discount retailers” 1d. a 32 (emphass added). The very existence of this aleged gray market is
predicated on the sdective distribution policy that Adams Golf discussed in its Regigtration Statement;
the alleged gray market in Adams Golf products could not exist unless the Company’s distribution
were selective and discounters were unable to obtain Adams Golf products directly from Adams Golf.
Therefore, the court finds that the facts aleged by the plaintiffs fal to demongrate that any of the
foregoing statements made in the Regidration statement were fase.

Having found that the plaintiff’ s have failed to dlege that any of the Satements made in the
Regidration Statement were fase, the court next turnsto the plaintiffs clam that the Registration
Statement contained mideading misrepresentations and materia omissions that are actionable under the
'33 Act. Pantiffsattribute a great ded of significance to the fact that on June 9, 1998, one month
before the Effective Date of the Regidiration Statement, Adams Golf issued a press release stating that
“Adams Golf became concerned when it learned that Costco was sdlling their Tight Lies fairway woods

because Costco is not an authorized distributor.” According to the press release, Adams Golf filed a
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Bill of Discovery againgt Costco on that same day “to determine whether Costco’s claims that they had
properly acquired Adam’s Tight Lies fairway woods for resde were accurate” The plaintiffs assart in
their complaint that the Regigtration Statement and Prospectus was materidly fase and mideading
because it Sated that “‘ the Company does not sl its products through price sengtive generd discount
warehouses, department stores, or membership clubs,’ [when] in fact, at the time of the IPO, Costco
was obtaining and selling to the golfing public sgnificant numbers of Tight Liesclubs” H. Consol. and
Am. Class Action Comp. 1 36.

As stated above, the court finds that the above statement is not false; just because Costco was
obtaining the clubs does not mean Adams Golf was sdling the clubsto them. Moreover, the filing of
the Bill of Discovery and the issuing of the press release are consistent with the defendants contentions
that it wasin fact Adams Golf’ s policy not to authorize * distribution of the Company’s products to
discount retallers” Adams Golf filed a Bill of Discovery againgt Costco precisdy because it maintained
adective digribution grategy. In addition, dthough the’33 Act does not require proof of fraudulent
intent, Adams Golf’ s disclosure of thelr investigation into thisincident in its press release undermines the
adlegations that the defendants sought to concedl or did conced the existence of an gray market for its
products.

Adams Golf issued the dlegedly fdse or mideading Regigtration Statement and Prospectus on
July 9, 1998, and stated within that sdective distribution was one of Adams Golf’s key marketing
policies. Six months later, on January 7, 1999, in a statement accompanying its projections of
disappointing fourth quarter 1998 results, Adams Golf disclosed that “results had been, were currently,

and would continue to be materialy, adversely affected by gray market distribution to discount retallers
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... [such as] membership warehouse club[s].” Id. at 140. Later that year, in the Company’s 1998
Form 10-K Report, filed with the SEC in March, Adams Golf stated that:

Despite the Company’ s efforts to limit its distribution to selected retailers, Adams Golf

products have been found in a certain membership warehouse club, which the

Company believes has obtained the products through the use of unauthorized

digtribution channdls. Adams Golf has taken stepsto limit this unauthorized didtribution

through the seridization of dl Adams Golf club heads but does not believe the gray

marketing of its products can be totaly diminated.

Plaintiffs assert that the foregoing chronology demonstrates that the Adams Golf Prospectus
failed to disclose and thus misrepresented the following two facts: “(1) that gray marketing represented
amaterid risk to the Company in that it posed athreat to the Company’s earnings, (2) that gray
marketing represented amaterid problem that could not be ‘totaly diminated’ by the Company’s
corporate controls.” 1d. at 1 42.

While the plaintiffs build their case around Adams Golf statements appearing after the PO

date, in order to sate aclam for amaterid omisson, the plaintiffs alegations must identify thet this

aleged undisclosed materid risk was known and materid at the time of the IPO. Zucker v. Quasha,

891 F. Supp. 1010, 1014 (D.N.J. 1995) (quoting Sinay v. Lamson & Sessions Co., 948 F.2d 1037,

1040 (6th Cir. 1991) (“A court evaluates whether the statement or omission was mideading at thetime

itwasmade. . . ‘Fraud by hindsight’ . . . isnot actionable."); see dso Castlerock Management Ltd. v.

Ultralife Batteries, Inc., 68 F. Supp. 2d 480, 488 (D.N.J. 1999) (“omissions that creste a mideading

impression — particularly one that is mideading in hindsight — are not sufficient to conditute the basis of a
securities action under Section 11 or Section 12(2)").

The plaintiffs complaint does not plead factsthat, if proved, would demondrate that a the time
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of the filing of the IPO, the Adams Golf defendants or the Underwriter defendants had any reason to
assume that the presence of alimited number of golf clubs at one discount retailer was anything more
than an isolated incident or that the incident would have any materid sgnificance. Drawing dl favorable
inferences from the well-pleaded facts, the complaint pleads only that at the time of the IPO, Costco
had about 5,000 Tight Lies clubs and that Adams Golf was investigating Costco' s gpparent acquisition
of Tight Lies product. The complaint does not alege facts that demondtrate thet, at the time of the |PO,
Adams Golf should have or did consider the presence of its clubs at Costco to be anything more than
an isolated event. In sum, plaintiffs have not aleged support for their propostion that the fact that an
unauthorized discount retailer had illegaly obtained a number of Adams Golf clubs condtituted a
materid risk at the time of the IPO, or a“known trend” threatening the Company’ s future sales, that
should have been disclosed. The securities laws require that companies disclose known materid facts,
they do not require companies to disclose speculative facts that might have some materid abeit
unknown impact on future earnings. Craftmatic, 890 F.2d at 644. Accordingly, the court finds that the
plantiffs dlegations regarding the dleged “gray market” dam are insufficient to survive the defendants
Rule 12(b)(6) motions and will dismiss the complaint with respect to the those dlegations.
2. Do the plantiffs industry oversupply alegations date aclam under the ’33 Act?

Pantiffs second theory for relief under the securities laws is that the Registration Statement
and Prospectus contained false or mideading statements or omissions regarding the existence of aretall
level oversupply condition in the golf club industry prior to the IPO offering. This theory focuses on
two dleged wrongs by the defendants. First, Adams Golf faled to disclose materid information

regarding the levels of retall inventory in the golf equipment industry, generdly. Second, thisfalureto
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disclose this generd industry problem rendered fdse or mideading Adams Golf’ s firm-specific
satements about its ability to ddiver its products promptly to its retailers and about its prospects for
future growth.

In support of their oversupply theory, plaintiffs alege that on January 7, 1999, approximeately
gx months after the I1PO, Adams Golf disclosed that it would “offer extraordinary creditsto its own
retalers, a the cost of millions of dallars, in an atempt to dleviate problems arising from those retailers
excessinventory.” Pl. Consol. and Am. Class Action Comp. 49. “Then, on April 12, 1999, in
reporting disappointing results for the first quarter of 1999, ending March 31, 1999, defendants
disclosed that for at least 12 months. . . there had been an *oversupply of inventory at the retall level’
on an industry-wide basis” 1d. at 1143, 49.

Inferring that since the April 12, 1999 disclosure Sated that the oversupply had existed for at
least 12 months, and that therefore the defendants must have known about the condition prior to the
July 9, 1998, Effective Date of the Regigtration Statement and Progpectus, the plaintiffs allege that the

following statements from the Regigtration Statement are actionable under the’ 33 Act as being false or

mideading:

. “The Company believesits prompt delivery of products enables its retail accounts to
maintain smaler quantities of inventory than may be required with other golf equipment
manufacturers,”

. “In 1997, wholesale sales of golf equipment in the U.S. reached an estimated $2.4

billion. Wholesde sdes of golf clubsincreased a an estimated compound annua
growth rate of approximately 13% over the 5-year period from 1992-1997. The
Company believes that a number of trends are likely to further increase the demand for
Adams products. Thesetrendsinclude: (i) Sgnificant growth in the number of golf
courses, (i) increasing interest in golf from women, junior, and minority golfers; (iii) the
large numbers of golfers entering their 40s and 50s, the age when most golfers begin to
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play more often and increase their spending on the sport; (iv) the correspondingly large
population of ‘ Echo Boomers,” who are beginning to enter their 20s, the age of when
golfers generdly take up the sport; and (V) the rapid evolution of golf club designs and
meterias,”
Paintiffs assert that not only did the Registration Statement and Prospectus fail to indicate that Adams
Golf retailers were carrying excess inventory, the first of the above satements from the Registration
Statement materialy mided the market that the opposite wasthe case. 1d. a 1149. Plaintiffs further
contend that the defendants should have disclosed the industry-wide retail oversupply problem in the
Regidration Statement and that their failure to do so, especidly inlight of al the other risks rdlating to
competition and industry factors that were disclosed, was an omission of materia fact in violation of the
"33 Act. Seeid. at 1 45-48.

In support of the plaintiffs claim that this fact was both materia and that it was known or
knowable by Adams Golf prior to the IPO, the complaint (i) notes that “various sources have informed
plaintiffs that, prior to the PO, competitors of Adams Golf had begun to take corrective action to
address the industry-wide oversupply of equipment,” id. at 11 50, and (ii) references an April 13, 2000
article from the Wall Street Journd, which analyzes golf industry trends for the past decades and
concludes that “industry revenue growth in the 1990s was achieved by * milking money out of its cash
cows—avid golferswho play at least 25 times ayear —with ever-more-costly equipment and playing
fees’ Id. at 1 51-54.

In their briefs the defendants counter that they had no duty to disclose industry-leve trends, but

only had a duty to disclose materia risks regarding Adams Golf itsdf. Therefore, with respect to the

aleged omissons, defendants contend that their failure to disclose industry trendsis not actionable. See
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Whirlpool Fin. Corp. v. GN Holdings, 67 F.3d 605 (7" Cir. 1989) (finding that nondisclosure of

industry-wide trends is not a basis for a securities clam); Wielgos v. Commonwedth Edison Co., 892

F.2d 509, 515 (7™ Cir. 1989) (noting that “[s]ecurities laws require issuers to disclose firm-specific
information; investors and andysts combine that information with knowledge about the competition,
regulatory conditions, and the economy as awhole to produce avaue for stock.”). The defendants
a0 respond that even if there were a duty to disclose industry trends, there are no facts alleged that
demondrate that the information that plaintiffs contend should have been disclosed was known or even
knowable on July 9, 1998. Ingtead, the plaintiffs assume that the pattern of macro-economic factors
percaived in April 1999 were just as vishle and obvious on July 9, 1998 and should have at that time
been seen to have certain materid effects on the company’ s future performance. See Craftmatic, 890
F.2d at 644 (holding that where there was no dlegation that management had any reliable forecasts
regarding matters plaintiffs urged should have been disclosed, failure to disclose not actionable because
it would have been so “ gpeculative and unreliable’ asto be immaterid).

The defendants go on to specifically address the dleged misrepresentations. First, defendants
note that the dlegedly fase or mideading statement that “[ Adams Golf’s| prompt delivery of products
enablesits retall accounts to maintain smdler quantities of inventory” than retailers of Adams Golf
compsetitorsis both relative and qudified. Such a statement, defendants argue, cannot be false or
mideading asto Adams Golf’ sretallers inventory levels, because it does not make any representation
about thisfact. It merdy states that Adams Golf’ s business practice of prompt ddlivery enablesiits
retallersto maintain ardaively smdler inventory.

The complaint dleges no facts indicating that Adams Golf did not deliver its products to its
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retailersin aprompt fashion or that this policy did not enable Adams Golf retailersto carry ratively
lessinventory as compared to its competitors retailers. Therefore, the court presumes that plaintiffs do
not chdlenge the truth of the statement, but rather dlege that it is mideading. Moreover, the court
agrees with the defendants that the plaintiffs have dleged no facts that could demondrate that this
gatement of an Adams Golf business strength that givesit an advantage over its competitorsis
mideeding.

With respect to plaintiffs contention that the second statement, a forward-looking expression of
belief that certain factors and postive trendsin the golf industry bode well for the company’ s future
growth prospect, is“ mideading with respect to the prospects for growth in the golf industry,” Pl. Am.
and Consol. Comp. at 111 44, 51, the defendants raise three arguments. Firgt, in order to be actionable,
the chalenged statements must midead a reasonable investor as to the prospects of Adams Golf - not
the golf indudtry, generdly. Whirlpool, 67 F.3d at 609. Second, the statement Adams Golf made
about itsdf is merdly an expression of vaguely optimistic belief that these factors would postively
influence demand for its products, and is therefore too vague to be actionable. See In re Burlington

Coat Factory Sec. Litig., 114 F.3d 1410, 1427 (3d Cir. 1996) (dtating that generdly optimistic

gatements regarding growth prospects congtitute nothing more than puffery and are not actionable
under federd securitieslaws). Third, this statement cannot be actionable because, under the * bespesks
caution” doctrine, which holds that if “an offering document’ s forecadts, opinions or projections are
accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements,” those forecasts cannot be the basis of a securities
clam unlessit is reasonable to assume that the statements affected the total mix of information the

document provided investors. In re Donald J. Trump Casino Sec. Litig., 7 F.3d 357, 364 (3d Cir.
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1993). Itisundisputed that Adams Golf’ s satements concerning the golf equipment industry were
accompanied by the disclosure of certain cautionary statements concerning the investment risks
asociated with investing in agolf equipment maker based on such factors as decline in demand,
pressure on sales margins from reduced consumer spending, and market competition. The defendants
argue that in light of its contemporaneous disclosure of these risks, Adams Golf’ s forward-looking
gatements of belief asto generd industry trends cannot be consdered mideading.

Faintiffs do not dlege that Adam’s Golf retallers had an existing oversupply of golf clubs at the
time of the IPO. They only dlege that there was aproblem in “the industry.” The court’sandyss
begins with the proposition that Adams Golf does not have the absolute duty to disclose industry-wide
trends. Rather, itis Adams Golf’s duty under the securities laws to disclose in its Regigtration
Statement and Prospectus dl materid facts with respect to Adams Golf that were known or knowable
at thetime of the IPO. Failureto do so isan omission thet is actionable under the’ 33 Act.

The plaintiffs argue that three “facts’ aleged in the complaint support their alegation that
Adams Golf had knowledge at the time of the IPO that an industry-wide trend of oversupply was a
materid risk to its performance. Thosefacts arethat: (i) plaintiffs “sources’ indicate that other
competitors were addressing the oversupply issue prior to July 9, 1998; (ii) an April 2000 Wall Street
Journd article andyzing trendsin golf concludes that the growth potentid of the market in the 1990s
was vaglly exaggerated by companies within the industry; and (iii) Adams Golf’s April 1999 disclosure
dates that “for at least 12 months. . . there had been an ‘oversupply of inventory at theretall level’ on
an industry-wide bass.” Id. at 11 43, 49.

The court finds that even when the truth of those facts are assumed, as they must be for the
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purposes of this motion, they do not demonstrate that Adams Golf had any knowledge at the time of
its PO that there was an exigting industry-wide trend of oversupply that was or would be materialy
affecting Adams Golf. The fact that competitors assessed a problem at that time with their retallers,
says hothing about the existence of any problems discoverable at that time by Adams Golf. Nor can
the plaintiffs rely on the Wall Street Journd article from nearly two years &fter the Effective Date or
Adams Golf's April 1999 statement. With respect to those two supporting facts, the court agrees with
defendants that, even under the deferentid standard of Rule 12(b)(6), one cannot reasonably infer from
ex-post anayses of macro-economic trends that factors which were determined as material based on a
backward-looking andysis were equdly apparent and materid a some earlier point intime. Accord
Scibelli v. Roth, 98 Civ. 7228, 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS at *10 (S.D.N.Y.. January 31, 2000)
(dismissing Section 11 action and noting that plaintiffs complaint failed to dlege a securities violaion

because “[t]o infer that Nortel possessed such information on July 24 because Nortel announced such

information on September 29 is not areasonable inference’); see dso Zucker, 891 F. Supp. at 1016
(“Even Section 11, which provides drict liability againg the issuer of stock for misstatementsin the
prospectus, does not impose ligbility for the omisson of materid information which was unknown to,

and not reasonably discoverable by, the defendants.”) (internal quotations omitted); In re Number Nine

Visual Tech. Corp. Sec. Litig., 51 F. Supp. 2d 1, 17 (D. Mass. 1992) (plaintiffs “insufficiently alleged

materia misstatements based solely on the subsequent announcement of inventory markdowns by
[defendant]” eight months after the initia public offering). Defendants cannot be subject to liability
under the securities laws for their falure to predict in the PO documents facts that occurred or patterns

that were discerned after the IPO. See Castlerock, 68 F. Supp. 2d at 488 (“omissions that create a
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mideading impresson — particularly one that is mideading only in hindsght — are not sufficient to
condtitute the basi's of a securities action under section 11 or section 12(2)”) (citing Zucker, 891 F.
Supp. at 1017).

Having found that the defendants did not omit a materia fact in the Regigtration Statement, the
court next turns to whether any of the statements that were included were
fadse or mideading. The court agrees with the defendants that the forward-looking statements cited in
the plaintiffs complaint thet identify trends, which “the Company believes. . . are likely to further
increase the demand for Adams' products,” are not actionable as fase or mideading under the
“begpesks caution” doctrine. While the plaintiffs argue that the risk factors failed to include the specific
risk of retailer inventory oversupply, the court has aready found that the plaintiffs failed to alege
aufficient facts indicating that this risk was known or knowable a the time of the offering. Therefore,
the court finds here that Adams Golf’ s optimigtic statements were adequately tempered by the host of
risk factors that accompanied it, such that they cannot be considered fase or mideading.

Accordingly, the court finds that the plaintiffs dlegations regarding the aleged “inventory over-
supply” clam areinsufficient to survive the defendants Rule 12(b)(6) motions and will dismissthe
complaint with respect to the those dlegations. Having now found that the plaintiffs have not stated a
clam under either 88 11 or 12(8)(2), the court is compelled to find that the plaintiffs have not stated a
clam under 815, because a 815 violation requires, as a prerequisite, aviolation of 811 or 812(a)(2).

V. CONCLUSION

The court first determined that plaintiffs complaint is pleaded with sufficient particularity, thet

certain of the plaintiffs do not have standing under § 12(a)(2), and thet dl of the plaintiffs have standing
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under § 11 to the extent they can prove that their shares are traceable to the IPO.

However, after reviewing the substance of the plaintiffs dlegations, the court finds thet the
plantiffs dlegations are insufficient to withstand the defendants maotionsto dismiss. Even drawing dl
reasonable inferences in favor of the plaintiffs in assessng the defendants motions to dismiss, the court
isunable to find that the factud dlegationsin support of ether of plaintiffs two theories sate aclam for
violation of 811, § 12(a)(2), or § 15 of the’ 33 Act. Therefore the court will grant the defendants
motions to dismiss. Accordingly the court need not assess the other aspects of the Adams Golf
defendants motion challenging the adequacy of the dlegations as to whether they qudify as “satutory
sdlers’ for purposes of § 12(a)(2) and whether they qudify as*control persons’ for purposes of § 15.

The court will enter an order in accordance with this opinion.
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